



PERMANENT ADMINISTRATIVE ORDER

BLI 15-2025

CHAPTER 839

BUREAU OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

FILED

12/30/2025 2:50 PM
ARCHIVES DIVISION
SECRETARY OF STATE
& LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL

FILING CAPTION: Amends rules relating to servicemember preference in public employment, including changes needed to implement legislation.

EFFECTIVE DATE: 01/01/2026

AGENCY APPROVED DATE: 12/30/2025

CONTACT: Josh Nasbe
970-269-4431
josh.d.nasbe@boli.oregon.gov

1800 SW 1st Ave, Suite 500
Portland, OR 97201

Filed By:
Josh Nasbe
Rules Coordinator

RULES:

839-006-0435, 839-006-0440, 839-006-0445, 839-006-0450, 839-006-0455, 839-006-0460, 839-006-0465, 839-006-0470

AMEND: 839-006-0435

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to implement chapter 137, Oregon Laws 2025 and to modify citations.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0435

Veterans Preference in Public Employment ¶

(1) It is the policy of the State of Oregon that a public employer grant a preference in hiring and promotion to state servicemembers, former state servicemembers, veterans, and disabled veterans, under the provisions of ORS ~~408.230~~25 to ~~408.237~~.¶

(2) The requirement to grant a preference in hiring and promotion to state servicemembers, former state servicemembers, veterans, and disabled veterans, under the provisions of ORS ~~408.230~~25 to ~~408.237~~, applies only to a public employer's civil service positions.¶

(3) That a private employer may give employment preference in the hiring or promotion of employees under ~~OL Ch. 86, Sec. 2-2014~~RS 408.497 does not preclude the filing of a complaint under ORS chapter 659A.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS ~~408.230~~25 - ~~408.235~~7, ~~OL Ch. 86, Sec. 2-2014~~RS 408.497

AMEND: 839-006-0440

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to implement chapter 137, Oregon Laws 2025 and eliminate statutory duplication.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0440

Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Definitions ¶¶

~~(1) "Active duty" does not include attendance at a school under military orders, except schooling incident to an active enlistment or a regular tour of duty, or normal military training as a reserve officer or member of an organized reserve or a National Guard unit.¶¶~~

~~(2) "Armed Forces" means the United States Army, Navy, Marine Corps, Air Force, Space Force, and Coast Guard, including the reserve components thereof. (Title 38 USC Part I Chapter 1 Section 101). Reserve components mean:¶¶~~

~~(a) The Army Reserve;¶¶~~

~~(b) The Navy Reserve;¶¶~~

~~(c) The Marine Corps Reserve;¶¶~~

~~(d) The Air ~~f~~orce Reserve;¶¶~~

~~(e) The Coast Guard Reserve;¶¶~~

~~(f) The Army National Guard of the United States; and¶¶~~

~~(g) The Air National Guard of the United States.¶¶~~

~~(32) "Civil service position" means any position for which a hiring or promotion decision is made or required to be made based on the results of a merit based, competitive process that includes, but is not limited to, consideration of an applicant's or employee's relative ability, knowledge, experience and other skills.¶¶~~

~~(a) A "civil service" position need not be labeled a "civil service position."¶¶~~

~~(4) "Combat zone" means an area designated by the President of the United States by executive order in which, on the dates designated by executive order, the Armed Forces of the United States are or have engaged in combat.¶¶~~

~~(5) "Disabled veteran" means a person who has a disability rating from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs, a person whose discharge or release from active duty was for a disability incurred or aggravated in the line of duty or a person who was awarded the Purple Heart for wounds received in combat. Disabled veteran "former state servicemember," "state servicemember" and "veteran" have the meaning given those terms in ORS 408.225.¶¶~~

~~(63) "Eligibility list" means a list of ranked eligible candidates for a civil service position who have become eligible for the position through a test or series of tests and who will be considered for the civil service position in ranked order. Rankings of eligible candidates identified as tiers, bands or other names function as eligibility lists for purposes of these rules.¶¶~~

~~(74) "Military leave" means any period of time for which a person is absent from a permanent civil service position for the performance of active duty in the Armed Forces of the United States.¶¶~~

~~(85) "Promotion" means any position with a higher maximum salary rate.¶¶~~

~~(96) "Public employer" includes a public body as defined in ORS 174.109, and any person authorized to act on behalf of the public body, with respect to control, management or supervision of any employee. "Public employer" includes but is not limited to:¶¶~~

~~(a) Employers in local governments;¶¶~~

~~(b) Employers in a public corporation created under a statute of this state and specifically designated as a public corporation; and¶¶~~

~~(c) Employers in any public body that is created by statute, ordinance or resolution that is not part of state government or local government.¶¶~~

~~(107) "Special qualifications" means qualifications added to minimum qualifications necessary at the time of appointment based on specific duties of the position to be filled. Special qualifications may include, but are not limited to bilingual skills, or licenses, permits and certifications required by law and screenings otherwise permitted by law, such as reference, criminal background and credit checks and physical fitness and drug tests.¶¶~~

~~(11) "Transferable skill" means a skill that a veteran has obtained through military education or experience that substantially relates, directly or indirectly, to the civil service position for which the veteran is applying.¶¶~~

~~(12) "Veteran" means a person who:¶¶~~

~~(a) Served on active duty with the Armed Forces of the United States;¶¶~~

~~(B) For a period of more than 90 consecutive days beginning on or before January 31, 1955, and was discharged or released under honorable conditions;¶¶~~

~~(C) For a period of more than 178 consecutive days beginning after January 31, 1955, and was discharged or released from active duty under honorable conditions;¶¶~~
~~(D) For 178 days or less and was discharged or released from active duty under honorable conditions because of a service-connected disability;¶¶~~
~~(E) For 178 days or less and was discharged or released from active duty under honorable conditions and has a disability rating from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs; or¶¶~~
~~(F) For at least one day in a combat zone and was discharged or released from active duty under honorable conditions;¶¶~~
~~(b) Received a combat or campaign ribbon or an expeditionary medal for service in the Armed Forces of the United States and was discharged or released from active duty under honorable conditions; or¶¶~~
~~(c) Is receiving a non service-connected pension from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs.¶¶~~
~~(d) For questions regarding military discharge, consult the Oregon Department of Veterans' Affairs website at http://www.oregon.gov/ODVA/docs/PDFs/Criminal_Justice_Portal/Military_discharge.pdf?ga=t~~
Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805
Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.225, ~~408.230~~, 408.235

AMEND: 839-006-0445

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to eliminate statutory duplication and to modify citation.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0445

Eligibility for Employment Preference ¶

~~(1) A veteran is eligible to use the preference provided for in OAR 839-006-0450 and 839-006-0455 for a civil service position for which application is made at any time after discharge or release from service in the Armed Forces of the United States.¶~~

~~(2) Except as provided in (1) of this rule there are no limitations to~~There are no limitations on the number of times a person can claim the preference described in ORS 408.225 to 408.237.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS ~~408.230,25~~ - 408.2357

AMEND: 839-006-0450

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to implement chapter 137, Oregon Laws 2025 and eliminate statutory duplication.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0450

Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Applying the Employment Preference ¶¶

~~(1) A public employer shall grant a preference to a veteran or disabled veteran who applies for a vacant civil service position or who seeks promotion to a civil service position with a higher maximum salary rate and who:¶¶~~

~~(a) Successfully completes an initial application screening or an application examination for the position; or¶¶~~

~~(b) Successfully completes a civil service test the employer administers to establish eligibility for the position; and¶¶~~

~~(c) Meets the minimum qualifications and any special qualifications for the position.¶¶~~

~~(2) At each stage of the application process a public employer will grant a preference to a veteran or disabled veteran who successfully completes an initial application screening or an application examination or a civil service test the public employer administers to establish eligibility for a vacant civil service position.¶¶~~

~~(3) For an initial application screening used to develop a list of persons for interviews, the public employer will add five preference points to a veteran's score and ten preference points to a disabled veteran's score.¶¶~~

~~(4) For an application examination, given after the initial application screening, that results in a score, the public employer will add five preference points to a veteran's and ten preference points to a disabled veteran's total combined exam score. At each stage of the application process a public employer must grant a preference, in accordance with ORS 408.225 to 408.237, to a state servicemember, former state servicemember, veteran, or disabled veteran, who successfully completes an initial application score without allocating the points to any single feature or part of the examination.¶¶~~

~~(5) If a public employer uses an application examination that consists of an evaluation method of ranking an applicant that does not result in a score, the public employer will devise and apply methods by which the public employer gives special consideration in the public employer's hiring decision to veterans and disabled veterans.¶¶~~

~~(6) When an interview is a component of the selection process for a civil service position or for an eligibility list for a civil service position, a public employer shall interview each veteran:¶¶~~

~~(a) Whom the public employer determines meets the minimum qualifications and special qualifications for the civil service position or eligibility list; and¶¶~~

~~(b) Who submits application materials that the public employer determines show sufficient evidence that the veteran has the transferable skills required and requested by the public employer for the civil service position or eligibility list.¶¶~~

~~(7) A public employer is not required to comply with subsection (6) of this rule if the employer's practice is to generate an eligibility list without conducting interviews of possible candidates.¶¶~~

~~(8) When an application examination or a civil service test the public employer administers to establish eligibility for a vacant civil service position.¶¶~~

~~(2) A public employer may consult with the Oregon Military Department and the Department of Veterans' Affairs to determine whether certain military education or experience produces a transferable skill. To evaluate a veteran's transferable skills from a transcript of military training, a public employer may consult the American Council on Education's website, "A Guide to the Evaluation of Educational Experiences in the Armed Services," at <http://www.acenet.edu/news-room/Pages/Military-Guide-Online.aspx>~~

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.230, 408.235, 25 - 408.237

AMEND: 839-006-0455

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to add statutory citation.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0455

Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Employment Preference for Promotions II

A public employer ~~will~~must grant a preference to a person seeking promotion in the manner described at ~~OAR~~
~~839-006-0450~~in ORS 408.225 to 408.237.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.225, ~~408.230, -~~ 408.2357

REPEAL: 839-006-0460

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Repeals rule to eliminate statutory duplication.

CHANGES TO RULE:

~~839-006-0460~~

~~Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Appointment to a Position~~

~~(1) A public employer will appoint an otherwise qualified veteran or disabled veteran to a vacant civil service position if the results of a veteran's or disabled veteran's application examination, when combined with the veteran's or disabled veteran's preference, are equal to or higher than the results of an application examination for an applicant who is not a veteran or disabled veteran.¶¶~~

~~(2) Preferences of the type described in OAR 839-006-0450 and 839-006-0455 are not a requirement that a public employer appoint a veteran or disabled veteran to a civil service position.¶¶~~

~~(3) A public employer may base a decision not to appoint the veteran or disabled veteran solely on the veteran's or disabled veteran's merits or qualifications with respect to the vacant civil service position.¶¶~~

~~(4) If a public employer does not appoint a veteran or disabled veteran to a vacant civil service position, upon written request of the veteran or disabled veteran, the public employer, will provide the public employer's reasons for the decision not to appoint the veteran or disabled veteran to the position.~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.230, 408.235~~

AMEND: 839-006-0465

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Amends rule to implement legislation and to modify documentation that may be used to demonstrate servicemember status.

CHANGES TO RULE:

839-006-0465

Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Certification ¶¶

(1) A public employer may require an applicant to provide certification that the person is an state servicemember, former state servicemember, eligible veteran, or disabled veteran ~~under OAR 839-006-0440(5) and (9).~~¶

(2) An applicant for a position with a public employer claiming veteran's or disabled veteran's preference ~~percentage~~ points may submit as certification of eligibility ~~under OAR 839-006-0440(5) and (9)~~ a copy of the Certificate of Release or Discharge from Active Duty (a federal DD Form 214 or 215) with the application for employment.¶

(3) Disabled veterans may also submit a copy of their veteran's disability preference letter from the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, ~~unless~~ but need not do so if the information is included in the federal DD Form 214/215.¶

(4) An applicant for a position with a public employer claiming state servicemember percentage points may submit as certification of eligibility a copy of the Retirement Accounting Statement (federal DA Form 5016) with the application for employment.¶

(5) An applicant for a position with a public employer claiming former state servicemember percentage points may submit as certification of eligibility, with the application for employment, a copy of:¶

(a) The Certificate of Release or Discharge from Active Duty (a federal DD Form 214); or¶

(b) The National Guard Report of Separation and Record of Service (a federal NGB Form 22 or DD Form 214-1).¶

(6) An applicant for a position with a public employer claiming state servicemember, former state servicemember, veteran or disabled veteran percentage points may submit a summary of benefits letter from the United States Department of Veterans Affairs or any other official document, provided that the letter or other official document demonstrates that the applicant is a state servicemember, former state servicemember, veteran or disabled veteran, with the application for employment.¶

(7) If a person's record appears to show service qualifying for the preference the public employer may provisionally designate an applicant as an eligible veteran ~~or~~, disabled veteran, state servicemember or former state servicemember. However, before the person can be appointed, the person must submit proof of the entitlement to the preference.

Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805

Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.225, ~~408.230,~~ 408.235

REPEAL: 839-006-0470

NOTICE FILED DATE: 11/06/2025

RULE SUMMARY: Repeals rule to eliminate statutory duplication.

CHANGES TO RULE:

~~839-006-0470~~

~~Veterans Preference in Public Employment: Enforcement~~

~~The Civil Rights Division of the Bureau of Labor and Industries enforces the provisions of ORS 408.230. A person claiming a violation of ORS 408.230 may file a verified written complaint with the Civil Rights Division in accordance with ORS 659A.820.~~

~~Statutory/Other Authority: ORS 659A.805~~

~~Statutes/Other Implemented: ORS 408.230, 408.235, 659A.820~~